FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
10/20/2022 2:53 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101386-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADELINA GABRIELA SUAREZ,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, TAMMY WINEGARD and her community property,
JULIANNE MOORE and her marital
Community property, and TAMMY MASTERS and her community property,

Respondent.

STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	A.	Ms. Suarez Worked for the Yakima Valley School, a Certified Nursing Facility that Cares for Vulnerable, Disabled Adults	5	
	В.	The School Approved Additional Religious Leave for Ms. Suarez in 2019 But Denied Two Days Because of a Staffing Shortage	8	
	C.	Despite Knowing There was a Staffing Shortage and That Her Request Had Been Denied, Ms. Suarez Did Not Show Up for Work	. 11	
	D.	The Court of Appeals Adopts a New Legal Standard and Reverses Summary Judgment	. 12	
		RGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE CCEPTED	. 14	
	A.	The Court of Appeals' Definition of Undue Hardship Conflicts with this Court's <i>Kumar</i> Opinion	. 15	
	В.	The Court of Appeals' Dramatic Expansion of WLAD and Common Law Liability Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest	. 22	
V.	CC	NCLUSION	. 25	
APP	ENI	DIX		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Kumar v. Gate Gourmet Inc., 180 Wn.2d 481, 325 P.3d 193 (2014)passim					
<u>Statutes</u>					
RCW 1.16.050					
RCW 1.16.050(3)					
RCW 43.41.109					
RCW 49.60.040(11)22					
Rules					
RAP 13.4(b)(1)					
RAP 13.4(b)(4)					
Regulations					
WAC 82-56-020					
Other Authorities					
Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n, Guide to Religion and Washington State Nondiscrimination Laws, https://www.hum.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/99_R eligion%20and%20non-discrimination.pdf					
Washington Law Against Discriminationpassim					

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of this Court in a manner that affects all employers in Washington. In Kumar v. Gate Gourmet Inc., 180 Wn.2d 481, 500-01, 325 P.3d 193 (2014), this Court held that, under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), employers must reasonably accommodate an employee's religious practices. This Court also adopted a framework for such WLAD claims where "an 'undue hardship' results whenever an accommodation 'require[s an employer] to bear more than a de minimis cost." Id. at 502 (quoting Trans World Airlines, Inc. v. Hardison, 432 U.S. 63, 84, 97 S. Ct. 2264, 53 L. Ed. 2d 113 (1977)). The Court of Appeals, adopting a theory that neither party had advocated, rejected this "more than a de minimis cost" standard and instead held that an undue hardship results only when an accommodation would cause an employer "significant difficulty or expense." App. at 16-17.

The Court of Appeals' basis for departing from this Court's *Kumar* decision is obviously flawed. The Court of Appeals relied on a regulation that interprets a statute that is not at issue here and that was adopted by an agency with no authority to interpret the WLAD. In essence, the Court of Appeals took a standard intended to apply only to public employees and only to the first two days of leave for religious purposes and broadly applied that standard to *all* Washington employers subject to the WLAD for *any* religious accommodation claim. The Court of Appeals' departure from this Court's decision in *Kumar* is unjustified and has far-reaching implications beyond this specific case.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' misinterpretation of the WLAD taints its analysis of Ms. Suarez's common law claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy because its application was incorporated into that claim. Notably, the common law claim applies to *all employers*, regardless of number of employees, to the extent the failure to accommodate results in discharge. Thus, this new standard will change the manner in which all employers must operate in dealing with religious accommodations.

This Court should accept review of all the issues in this case pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), reverse the Court of Appeals, and apply the correct legal standard to affirm the superior court's summary judgment order.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. This Court recognized in *Kumar* that under the WLAD a religious accommodation involves an undue hardship if it imposes "more than a *de minimis* cost" on an employer. Did the Court of Appeals err when it departed from this standard and instead held that a religious accommodation involves an undue hardship only if it involves "significant difficulty or expense" for an employer?
- 2. In resolving Ms. Suarez's claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, the Court of Appeals relied on its earlier holding that there was a question of fact as to whether

Ms. Suarez's request for time off amounted to an undue hardship.

Did the Court of Appeals err when it incorporated its new undue hardship standard from the WLAD claim into the common law claim?

- 3. An employer need not accommodate an individual if it constitutes an undue hardship, which under *Kumar* is anything that imposes "more than a *de minimis* cost." Here, to ensure the safety of its disabled residents, a nursing facility denied a request for leave made on one day's notice when it was already confronting a staffing shortage. Did the requested time off involve an undue hardship?
- 4. An employer need not accommodate an individual where the accommodation conflicts with a collective bargaining agreement or seniority rights of other employees. Here, an employee's days off were tied to the specific position they were hired for, and an employee could seek different days off under the CBA only by bidding or applying for a different position. Did

the School face an undue hardship to move Ms. Suarez to a position with more preferred days off?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Ms. Suarez Worked for the Yakima Valley School, a Certified Nursing Facility that Cares for Vulnerable, Disabled Adults

The Yakima Valley School serves vulnerable disabled adults and is administered by the Department of Social and Health Services' (Department's) Developmental Disabilities Administration. CP at 164. Despite its name, Yakima Valley School is not a school in the traditional sense; rather, it is a certified residential nursing facility that serves vulnerable, disabled adults. CP at 164. It offers a full spectrum of clinical, therapeutic, and respite programs including medical, dental, nursing, pharmacy, and psychiatric services. See CP at 164.

Because of the vulnerability of the residents it serves, the facility is staffed 24 hours a day, seven days a week. CP at 319. Importantly, there are necessary minimum staffing levels to adequately care for the School's residents. CP at 165. Certain

residents require more intensive care including "one-to-one care, where there needs to be a dedicated staff for each individual." CP at 320. The School's staff consists largely of certified nursing assistants (CNAs). CP at 165. To ensure the School has necessary coverage each day for each shift, the School hires CNAs for a particular schedule. CP at 165. Their working hours and days off are explicitly tied to the specific position the CNA is hired for. CP at 125, 164-65, 319.

The position that Ms. Suarez accepted specified that it was a night shift with Mondays and Tuesdays off. CP at 123-24, 159. At the time she accepted the position, Ms. Suarez knew she would be required to work on Saturdays. CP at 125. Employees of the School are unionized and the CBA dictates how to request positions for more preferred days off. *See* CP at 165. Ms. Suarez's position was subject to the CBA and was designated "emergent" per the Department's Emergency Operations Plan. CP at 159, 161. Because it was an emergent position, it could require the employee to "Report for duty on

short notice for a specified timeframe" and engage in "duty outside of normally scheduled work hours and workdays." CP at 162-63.

Under the CBA, seniority controls whether a person is entitled to a position with more preferred days off. CP at 165. There is a bid system that allows permanent employees who are outside their probationary periods to bid on positions with different days off or different shifts. Id. An employee does not become eligible to bid on a new position until he or she completes the probationary period. CP at 165, 319. However, a probationary employee may apply for another position with different days off if a position opens and has no bids. CP at 165, 319, 357. An individual who has been at the School longer will generally have more preferred days off because of the senioritybased bid system. CP at 126, 165. Saturday is one of the most preferred days off. CP at 127.

Ms. Suarez failed to apply for a position that opened with Fridays and Saturdays off. A swing shift position came open that

had Fridays and Saturdays off. CP at 357. A swing shift position requires the employee to work on afternoon and evenings. CP at 357. When a position opens and there are no bids, an email is automatically sent out regarding the open position to every employee. CP at 357. Ms. Suarez, however, indicated that she was not interested in a swing shift position. CP at 357. Ms. Suarez could have applied for this position but did not. CP at 357.

The CBA also had a provision regarding time off for religious purposes. CP at 165, 169. Specifically, it provides employees with two days of unpaid leave per calendar year for religious reasons. CP at 169. Further, it requires the employee to submit written notice fourteen days in advance of the requested day off. *Id*.

B. The School Approved Additional Religious Leave for Ms. Suarez in 2019 But Denied Two Days Because of a Staffing Shortage

In 2019, the School granted Ms. Suarez substantial time off for religious purposes. In April 2019, Ms. Suarez requested

five days off related to her observance of Passover. CP at 227.

The School approved her request. CP at133-34, 227.

On September 8, 2019, Ms. Suarez put in requests for time off on September 28 and 29, as well as October 5 and 6. CP at 229, 378. She made this request for paid time off. CP at 229. Per the CBA, availability for paid time off is based on seniority. CP at 224, 319. The four days that Ms. Suarez requested as paid time off had already been allotted to other employees per the CBA. CP at 229. Ms. Suarez's request for paid time off was therefore denied. CP at 229. On September 13, Ms. Suarez's supervisor, Tammy Masters, told Ms. Suarez that if she still wanted those days off, she needed to have a conversation with the appointing authority, Tammy Winegar, regarding leave without pay. CP at 229, 358. Only Ms. Winegar, as the appointing authority, could approve requests for leave without pay. CP at 229, 320, 358. Ms. Masters provided Ms. Winegar's contact information to Ms. Suarez. CP at 229.

Despite knowing she wanted time off beginning September 28, Ms. Suarez waited until September 27 to contact Ms. Winegar. CP at 138, 155, 166, 171. Ms. Suarez now requested not just two days off, but six: September 28 and 29; October 12 and 13; and October 19 and 20. Id. Ms. Winegar approved the request for October 12, 13, 19, and 20 for leave without pay. CP at 140, 166, 171. However, she denied the last minute request to have September 28 and 29 off because of staffing issues on that short of notice. See CP at 140, 166, 171. The School needed 21 staff to maintain staffing levels. While there were nominally 24 CNA positions assigned to work, four of those positions were unfilled. CP at 231, 233. Thus, the School was already short of staff for night shifts and had to get on-call or floating staff to cover the need. CP at 231, 233, 237. There were simply "too many staff down" with "too many vacant positions" given their staffing requirements to accommodate Ms. Suarez's full request. CP at 237-38. Though the CBA only required the School to approve two days off for religious

purposes each year, the School accommodated Ms. Suarez by approving four days in the month of October, which were in addition to the five days off approved in April. CP at 166.

C. Despite Knowing There was a Staffing Shortage and That Her Request Had Been Denied, Ms. Suarez Did Not Show Up for Work

Ms. Suarez reported for work on September 28, but then left town after her shift was over – despite knowing that her request for time off on September 29 had been denied. CP at 140-41, 166, 171. Shortly after Ms. Suarez missed her shift on September 29, the Department gave her notice that her probationary employment was ending effective October 4, 2019. CP at 166. The Department ended her probationary employment because she had a history of refusing mandatory overtime without justification and she elected to not show up when she knew the facility would be short-staffed without her. CP at 166, 379-80.

D. The Court of Appeals Adopts a New Legal Standard and Reverses Summary Judgment

The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. CP at 97-109, 199-213. The trial court denied Ms. Suarez's motion and granted the State's motion. CP at 402-05. Ms. Suarez appealed.

In a divided opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed in part the summary judgment order. App. A. The Court of Appeals reversed on two issues. First, it reversed dismissal of Ms. Suarez's WLAD reasonable accommodation claim. App. at 2. Second, the Court of Appeals reversed the dismissal of Ms. Suarez's wrongful termination in violation of public policy claim. *Id*.

In reversing summary judgment on Ms. Suarez's WLAD reasonable accommodation claim, the Court of Appeals adopted a new standard for what constitutes an undue hardship. While it acknowledged this Court's *Kumar* precedent, which defines an undue hardship as a requirement that subject an employer to "more than a *de minimis* cost," *Kumar*, 180 Wn. 2d at 502, the

Court of Appeals rejected that definition, in favor of a WAC definition of undue hardship adopted by the Office of Financial Management. *Id.* (citing WAC 82-56-020). Neither party had briefed or argued this WAC definition controlled or applied. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals saw "no need to use a different definition." App. at 17.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals held that an employer, in response to a religious accommodation claim, must meet this altered test: "To succeed on summary judgment, the School must present undisputed evidence that accommodating Suarez's request for unpaid leave on September 29 caused the School *significant* difficulty or expense." App. at 18 (emphasis added).

Regarding Ms. Suarez's common law claim, the Court again went beyond the briefing and argument. The Court went back to its analysis on "undue hardship" to conclude that summary judgment was inappropriate on the common law claim: "We have already determined that there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether accommodating Suarez's request for

leave on September 29 caused an undue hardship." App. at 29. Ultimately, the Court determined that questions of fact remained on that claim as well. App. at 30.

Judge Lawrence-Berry dissented. He would have held that because Ms. Suarez's proposed accommodations conflicted with the collective bargaining agreement, they amounted to an undue hardship. App. at 31. More specifically, he reasoned, "by April 2019, the School had permitted Ms. Suarez five days off for religious purposes, three more than permitted by the CBA." App. at 32. When it ultimately granted her four of the six days she subsequently requested, that "amounted to *nine* days in one year of approved time off for religious purposes." App. at 32. Ultimately, he determined that this was "far in excess of the two annual days off permitted by the CBA." App. at 35-36.

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and/or (4). The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kumar*

because it adopted a stricter standard for undue hardship under the WLAD in the religious accommodation context. Additionally, this is an issue of substantial public interest because it alters the standard for considering religious accommodation requests for all employers in Washington who are subject to the WLAD. By incorporating the flawed standard into the common law wrongful discharge analysis, the Court of Appeals heightened the public interest by extending the erroneous framework to *all* employers, not just those that are subject to the WLAD.

A. The Court of Appeals' Definition of Undue Hardship Conflicts with this Court's *Kumar* Opinion

The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kumar*. Under *Kumar*, an employer has the burden of establishing that "an accommodation 'require[s] an employer to bear more than a *de minimis* cost." *Kumar*, 180 Wn.2d at 500-02 (quoting *Trans World Airlines*, 432 U.S. at 84). The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Kumar* by instead requiring that an employer must establish that an accommodation

would cause the employer "significant difficulty and expense." App. at 16-17. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) to address this conflict.

In *Kumar*, this Court recognized an implied cause of action under the WLAD "for a failure to reasonably accommodate an employee's religious practice" and adopted a framework for analyzing such claims. *Kumar*, 180 Wn.2d at 500-02. An "employer can defend by showing . . . that an accommodation would be an 'undue hardship' on the employer." *Id.* at 502. Under the framework recognized by this Court in *Kumar*, "an 'undue hardship' results whenever an accommodation 'require[s an employer] to bear more than a *de minimis* cost." *Id.* (quoting *Trans World Airlines*, 432 U.S. at 84).

Here, the Court of Appeals recognized this Court's "more than a *de minimis* cost" standard, but then unjustifiably departed from it. Instead of applying the standard adopted by this Court in *Kumar*, the Court of Appeals adopted a "significant difficulty or expense" standard from a regulation that, by its terms, is plainly

inapplicable. The Court of Appeals relied on the definition of "undue hardship" in WAC 82-56-020, a regulation that implements a statutory right that is not at issue in this case.

For two reasons, WAC 82-56-020 does not provide a basis for departing from this Court's decision in *Kumar*. First, by its terms, WAC 82-56-020 does not purport to define what constitutes an "undue hardship" for purposes of the WLAD. The regulation is clear that it is providing a definition exclusively "[f]or purposes of chapter 168, Laws of 2014." WAC 82-56-020; *see also* RCW 43.41.109 ("The director of the office of financial management shall by rule establish a definition of 'undue hardship' *for the purposes of RCW 1.16.050*." (Emphasis added)).

That law, codified in relevant part as RCW 1.16.050(3), addresses the relationship between public employers and public employees. By adopting a more stringent undue hardship standard in that context, the State has committed, in its capacity as an employer, to provide more liberal accommodation of leave

"for a reason of faith or conscience" than the floor set by the WLAD. RCW 1.16.050(3). However, that standard is, by law, limited to the "two unpaid holidays per calendar year." *Id.* For any accommodation beyond the two days addressed by RCW 1.16.050, it does not apply.

The second reason that WAC 82-56-020 does not apply is that that regulation was adopted by the Office of Financial Management. The Office of Financial Management has no authority to interpret the WLAD. As this Court has recognized, "[s]ince its enactment, the WLAD has been administered by the Washington Human Rights Commission." *Kumar*, 180 Wn.2d at 489. While the Human Rights Commission has not adopted a regulation defining the term "undue hardship" in the specific context of this case, 1 guidance on the Commission's website reflects the "more than *de minimis*" standard from *Kumar*.

¹ The Human Rights Commission has adopted a definition of "undue hardship" in the context of disability discrimination. WAC 162-22-075; *see also* WAC 162-22-010 (limiting scope of chapter to "disability discrimination").

Wash. State Human Rights Comm'n, *Guide to Religion and Washington State Nondiscrimination Laws* at 3, https://www.hum.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/99_Religion ("In religious accommodation, the employer can generally show undue hardship if the cost or impact is more than *de minimis*.").

In short, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Kumar* because it adopts a very different standard for an employer to establish that a proposed accommodation would result in an undue hardship. The regulation relied on by the Court of Appeals provides no basis for the Court of Appeals' departure from this Court's decision in *Kumar*. By its terms, the regulation defines the term "undue hardship" in only a very narrow context and not for purposes of the WLAD at all. Whether to depart from *Kumar's* definition of undue hardship is a question for this Court, not the Court of Appeals. This Court should accept review to address the Court of Appeals' departure from this Court's precedent.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' error here also taints the common law wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim because it implicitly incorporated the same standard into that claim. Specifically, in determining whether there were questions of fact on the common law claim, the Court looked back to its analysis on WLAD: "We have already determined that there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether accommodating Ms. Suarez's request for leave on September 29 caused an undue hardship." App. at 29 (emphasis added). It ultimately concluded that there were questions of fact to the same extent as under its WLAD analysis: "As we noted above, whether the School's accommodations were reasonable or whether Suarez's request for unpaid leave on September 29 created an undue hardship are factual issues that cannot be resolved on this record." App. at 29-30. Thus, the Court should accept review and correct both issues.

Applying the correct standard, the School faced an undue hardship by Ms. Suarez's request for leave. The School, a

licensed nursing facility, with a vulnerable, disabled population, was confronted with the choice of whether to grant Ms. Suarez leave on one day's notice in the face of a staffing shortage. Granting that request would require the facility to force another employee, who was entitled to that day off under the collective bargaining agreement's seniority system, to work overtime. Denying Ms. Suarez leave in that situation was appropriate. *See Kumar*, 180 Wn.2d at 502 & n.33 (recognizing an undue hardship can occur when "other employees" "would be unduly burdened by the accommodation" such as requiring them "to work weekend shifts that they would otherwise have been exempt from under the seniority system").

Thus, in reviewing that issue, this Court should apply the correct standard, conclude that Ms. Suarez's requested accommodations would have created an undue hardship for the School, and affirm the superior court's summary judgment order.

B. The Court of Appeals' Dramatic Expansion of WLAD and Common Law Liability Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of the undue hardship standard will affect many public and private employers across Washington. The Court of Appeals interpreted the meaning of "undue hardship" for purposes of the WLAD generally. Generally, the WLAD applies to all employers in Washington "who employ[] eight or more persons." RCW 49.60.040(11). However, Ms. Suarez's claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy applies to *all employers*. App. at 26 (citing *Roberts v. Dudely*, 140 Wn.2d at 58, 900 P.2d 901 (2000)²). Because the Court of Appeals implicitly incorporated the same test into its analysis on that claim, its faulty analysis applies to all employers to the extent the inability to accommodate results in separation. See App. at 25, 29-30. As a result, the Court of Appeals decision represents a sea change in

² The Court of Appeals cited *Roberts* for the proposition that WLAD "provides the basis for wrongful discharge claim for employee who lacks statutory remedy." App. at 26.

law of religious accommodations in this state, affecting all employers regardless of size.

The Court of Appeals' decision, unlike the WAC it relied on, is not limited in context or scope. The definition in WAC 82-56-020 applies to a subset of religious accommodations in public employment. It applies only to "two unpaid holidays per calendar year." RCW 1.16.050. It applies equally to individuals needing time off for "faith" as well as "conscience." Id. Ms. Suarez did not bring an action for violation of RCW 1.16.050, and for good reason. As of the date that Ms. Suarez was denied leave, the School had already provided Ms. Suarez five days off for religious purposes in April 2019 and had approved four more days off in October 2019. CP at 133-34, 140, 166, 171, 227. As a result, RCW 1.16.050 is inapplicable, and Ms. Suarez relied on the WLAD and common law. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of "undue hardship" under WLAD applies to all employers covered by the WLAD not just the State. Additionally, the Court of Appeals'

incorporation of that standard into Ms. Suarez's common law claim affects all employers regardless of size to the extent the failure to accommodate results in separation. App. at 25.

This interpretation has potentially significant impacts beyond this case. For example, some employers, including the State, have made vaccination against COVID-19 a condition of employment and have considered requests for accommodations under the existing Kumar "more than a de minimis cost" standard. The Court of Appeals decision altering that standard may create liability for these employers, who made decisions based on this Court's decision in Kumar. Where the decision resulted in separation, the expanded liability will apply regardless of the size of the employer because the Court incorporated the same analysis into the wrongful discharge in violation of public policy claim. While an employer with fewer than eight employees need not comply with WLAD, any employer, regardless of size, would face liability under the common law claim if it discharged an employee for failing to

comply with the condition of employment surrounding the vaccine and could not satisfy the heightened standard of significant difficulty or expense.

More generally, religious calendars vary considerably based on denomination and time of year. Employers of first-responders and other essential workers—like the School here—will face expanded liability from the Court of Appeals decision each time an employee requests religious leave. These substantial public impacts warrant review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court should accept review of this matter. The Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with undue hardship standard adopted by this Court in *Kumar*. The new test, taken from a plainly inapplicable WAC, is a stark change to the prior standard. In light of the conflict with this Court's decision in *Kumar* and the significant policy implications it poses, this Court should grant review and reaffirm the correct standard.

This document contains 4135 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.