FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
11/10/2022 2:38 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/10/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 38381-4-III

101386-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADELINA GABRIELA SUAREZ,

Appellant/Plaintiff

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, TAMMY WINEGARD and her community property, JULIANNE MOORE and her marital community property, and TAMMY MASTERS and her community property,

Appellees/Defendants

APPELLANT'S REPONSE TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW AND CROSS PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Favian Valencia, WSBA# 43802 Counsel for Appellant Sunlight Law, PLLC 306 Holton Ave Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 388-0231

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. RESPONSE TO APPELLEES' ISSUES PRESENTED

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals concluded, in part, that

genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether the accommodation of Appellant's leave request to observe her religious holiday caused the Appellees an "undue hardship." In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeals had to define the phrase "undue hardship." To define the phrase, the Court of Appeals consulted WAC 82-56-020, a regulation promulgated to effectuate a law that grants certain state employees the right to two unpaid holidays per year for reasons of faith, unless the absence would impose an "undue hardship" on the employer. (RCW 1.16.050.) The regulation, promulgated by the Office of Financial Management pursuant to legislative directive, defines an "undue hardship" as an action requiring a "significant difficulty or expense to the employer." WAC 82-56-020. To aid with this evaluation, the regulation further sets forth ten (10) factors a state employer should consider when evaluating whether a request imposes an undue hardship.

Here, Appellees argue that the Court of Appeals erred in its interpretation of the phrase "undue hardship" because it conflicts with this Court's case in *Kumar v. Gate Gourmet Inc.*, 180 Wash. 2d 481, 502, 325 P.3d 193, 203 (2014), where this Court recognized that an undue hardship results whenever an accommodation requires an employer to bear more than a *de minimis* cost. Appellees further argue that the Court of Appeals' decision to draw from the regulation was in

error because the regulation does not apply to the WLAD by its own terms; the Office of Financial Management has no authority to interpret the WLAD; and adoption of the undue hardship standard would have significant public policy ramifications. In sum, Appellees argue that the standard encapsulated by the regulation should not apply.

Appellees' arguments are unpersuasive. In *Kumar*, the Supreme Court of Washington did not actually define what constituted an "undue hardship" under the WLAD. Rather, the Supreme Court merely noted the existing jurisprudence regarding the term's definition in the context of federal discrimination laws. *Kumar*, 325 P.3d at 203. Given the procedural posture of that case, this Court did not need to decide whether an accommodation actually did constitute an undue hardship, and as such, did not define the phrase in the context of the WLAD.

Here, the Court of Appeals' opinion merely extrapolates, but does not supplant or contradict, *Kumar*. Indeed, as a matter of statutory interpretation, the Court of Appeals may draw from related statutes, such as the State's law governing religious accommodation requests and the regulation interpreting the same. *Matter of K.G.T.*, 16 Wash. App. 2d 787, 791, 483 P.3d 808, 811 (2021) ("We begin with the written text and endeavor to uncover the statute's plain meaning. This involves an analysis of not only specific words, but also context, including related

statutes."). As such, Appellees' arguments that the regulation does not apply to the WLAD by its own terms or that the Office of Financial Management has no authority to interpret the WLAD are unpersuasive because the Court of Appeals was free to consult the references in defining the phrase as a matter of first impression.

Appellees further argue that, in defining "undue hardship" via the regulation and applying that definition to both the statutory WLAD claim (which only applies to employers with 8 or more employees) and the public policy tort (which applies to all employers), the Court of Appeals' decision will represent a "sea of change" for all employers, regardless of size. Appellees fail to explain, however, why this is inherently bad. Indeed, having a uniform definition of "undue hardship" in the context of religious accommodation requests applied to all Washington employers, whether public and private employer, simplifies the law on subject. Appellees argument also seemingly ignores the inherent discretion each employer, regardless of size, has in evaluating for an undue hardship, given that the regulation contemplates ten discretionary factors. There is simply no compelling public policy reason why the ten-factor analysis set forth in the regulation would be unworkable if applied to all Washington employers.

Put simply, the Court of Appeals did not err in its interpretation

APPELLANT'S RESPONSE AND 7 CROSS-PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - of the phrase "undue hardship" or in its conclusion that disputed material facts precluded summary judgment on Appellant's statutory failure-to-accommodate and public policy tort claims. As such, Appellant asks that this Court deny Appellees' Petition for Discretionary Review.

B. <u>APPELLANT'S ISSUE PRESENTED FOR</u> <u>DISCRETIONARY REVIEW</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision supplants unnecessary and unclear requirements to this Court's precedent. In its decision, the Court of Appeals concluded that Appellant did not assert any arguments or present evidence to support her statutory claims of discrimination or retaliation to the trial court, and as such, summary judgment was appropriate. The Court of Appeals relies on *Herberg v. Swartz*, 89 Wn.2d 916, 578 P.2d 17, 22 (1978) to support its decision. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), Appellant respectfully asserts that this decision is misguided and misinterprets this Court's decision in *Herberg* and asks for discretionary review on this claim. In *Herberg*, this Court made the proper decision to deny allowing the appellant in that case to argue a completely new argument because it was brought up for the first time on appeal. In the present case, Appellant did argue her claims of WLAD discrimination and retaliation throughout the trial court proceedings.

Appellant's complaint itself alleges the elements of WLAD claims for discrimination and retaliation. CP 5. The fact that trial court's decision granting Appellees' motion for summary judgment was a complete summary judgment, implies that all of Appellant's claims were dismissed and thus addressed by the parties and the trial court.

To establish a claim of discrimination, an employee has to prove that (1) an employer took an adverse action against the employee and (2) that the employee's religion was a substantial factor in the decision to take the adverse action. WPI 330.01; *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 444, 334 P.3d 541, 545 (2014). Appellant argued facts to support both of these elements of her claim starting with her complaint and supported by her pleadings and affidavits. Appellant argued and presented evidence that other employees were treated more favorably to establish her disparate treatment claim.

So, too, with Appellant's retaliation claim. An employee establishes a claim of retaliation in violation of WLAD by establishing that (1) she was opposing what she reasonably believed to be discrimination on the basis of her religion and (2) that a substantial factor in the decision to terminate her was the employee's opposition to the discriminatory practice. RCW 49.60.210(1); *Allison v. Hous. Auth.*, 118 Wn.2d 79, 821 P.2d 34 (1991). On September 11, 2019, when Appellees' denied Appellant's request to

APPELLANT'S RESPONSE AND 9 CROSS-PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW - take time off for her religious practices and Appellant complained and continued to request that Appellees reconsider their decision denying her time off, Appellant was engaging in opposing what she reasonably believed to be a discriminatory practice. After she was terminated, Appellant continued to plead for her job explaining that the reason she had to miss work was due to her moral obligation to attend to her religious practices to no avail. Appellant's overarching argument is that she was terminated on October 4, 2019 for engaging in a protected activity on September 29, 2019—this is the definition of a retaliation claim.

Simultaneously holding that Appellant presented sufficient evidence for a tort claim for wrongful termination in violation of the WLAD while holding that Appellant did not present sufficient evidence or argument for her statutory discrimination claim pursuant to WLAD is contradictory and warrants this Court's review. Construing these facts in the light most favorable to Appellant, the trial court erred in concluding that these claims were waived.

VI. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, Appellant respectfully prays Appellees' petition for discretionary review be denied and that Appellant's petition for discretionary review be granted.

//

//

RESPECTFULLLY SUBMITTED this <u>10th</u> day of November, 2022.

_/s/ Favian Valencia

Favian Valencia, WSBA#43802 Attorney for Appellant Sunlight Law, PLLC. 306 Holton Ave Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 388-0231

11